

Journal of Chromatography B, 717 (1998) 263-278

JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY B

Review

Separation techniques for bile salts analysis

Aldo Roda^{a,*}, Francesco Piazza^a, Mario Baraldini^b

^aDipartimento di Scienze Farmaceutiche, Università degli Studi di Bologna, Via Belmeloro 6, 40126 Bologna, Italy ^bDipartimento di Scienze Chimiche, Università di Bologna, Bologna, Italy

Abstract

The analysis of bile salts in biological samples has remained a difficult task, due to the complex nature of the salts and also to their low concentration in common sample fluids such as plasma and urine. Given their importance, the development of accurate and sensitive methods of instrumental analysis has been the subject of intensive research, and recent advances have eliminated or lessened some of the difficulties. Currently available techniques are the following: thin-layer chromatography, gas chromatography, high-performance liquid chromatography, supercritical fluid chromatography, gas chromatography, high-performance liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry (thermospray, fast atom bombardment, electrospray and ionspray), a method undergoing continuous improvement, is also being applied to bile salts analysis. In this paper, these various techniques, which differ greatly in specificity, accuracy and simplicity, are reviewed and discussed, in terms of analytical performance, applicability to a given sample fluid, major limitations, ability to identify uncommon bile salts, including unsaturated oxo derivatives, glucuronides, sulfates, glycosides and bile alcohols. © 1998 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Reviews; Bile salts

Contents

1.	Introduction	264		
2.	Bile acids in biological fluids	264		
3.	Separation method	266		
	3.1. Thin-layer chromatography	266		
	3.2. Gas chromatography	266		
	3.2.1. Mass spectrometry	267		
	3.2.2. Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry	267		
	3.2.3. BS kinetics by isotope ratio MS	268		
	3.3. High-performance liquid chromatography	268		
	3.4. Supercritical fluid chromatography	274		
	3.5. Capillary electrophoresis	274		
4.	Conclusions	275		
Re	eferences 2			

*Corresponding author.

0378-4347/98/\$19.00 © 1998 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved. PII: S0378-4347(98)00174-1

1. Introduction

Bile salts (BSs) are a complex class of acidic steroids whose qualitative and quantitative composition in different biological fluids has been studied extensively. BSs are found mainly in gallbladder bile, in which they are present at millimolar levels, and in serum and urine, at concentrations at least a thousand-times lower, thanks to high hepatic clearance. The qualitative composition of BSs in bile, serum and urine varies as a result of different physicochemical properties and, consequently, different rate of intestinal absorption and clearance by the liver and kidney. BS hepatic and intestinal metabolism can also be influenced by liver and gastrointestinal diseases [1,2].

Comprehensive analysis requires isolation of the BS from a given matrix, followed by separation by class (unconjugated, glycine or taurine amidated) and, for each class, into the respective sulfate, glucuronide, glucoside and oxo-derivatives. In addition, for each of these types, BS can be mono-, di- or trihydroxylated, in positions 3, 6, 7 or 12, for each of which exist α/β epimeric forms. Among living species, due to differences in hepatic synthesis, intestinal absorption and metabolism, the qualitative and quantitative composition of BSs in bile or serum vary considerably. In addition, in reptiles bile alcohols constitute a large group of bile salt-like steroids present only as metabolites of cholesterol [3].

Because of broad differences in physicochemical properties of the BSs [4] such as lipophilicity and polarity, complete and accurate separation and identification requires the use of sophisticated chromatographic techniques.

Many chromatographic systems have been developed for BS analysis in complex biological matrices, including thin-layer chromatography (TLC), gas chromatography (GC), high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), supercritical fluid chromatography (SFC) and capillary electrophoresis (CE), in combination with one of various detectors or with mass spectrometry (MS). The choice of a system is dictated by the analytical task to be performed and to the nature of the target biological fluid to be analyzed. In a recent paper Scalia [5] reviewed major techniques for BS separation and detection and also mentioned previous extensive reviews [6,7]. Other broadly comprehensive reviews have also been published [8,9]. In this paper we would like to review the more important methods developed for BS analysis, discussing their analytical performance, applicability to a given biological fluid, focusing, major limitations, and their ability to identify uncommon BSs, such as unsaturated oxo derivatives, glycosides and bile alcohols.

2. Bile acids in biological fluids

The choice of a given chromatographic method is determined by the expected concentration in a given biological specimen, the complexity of its BS composition as well as the detectability and precision needed.

When BSs are present at millimolar levels and only in conjugated form, as they are in gallbladder or hepatic bile and in the duodenal contents, analysis is relatively easy since it is possible to achieve satisfactory separation and resolution by coupling an HPLC system with a conventional UV-visible detector [10]. To quantify unconjugated BSs which have a very poor absorption in the UV or visible region, an alternative method that has shown good analytical performance, is the evaporative light scattering detection (ELSD) [11]. Moreover, with this detection method a gradient mode can be used, which permits good resolution of more than 16 BSs in a single run (Fig. 1). When a gradient program is used, calibration is required for each BS, due to the fact that the detector response is influenced by the organic component of the mobile phase and by BS retention time. The use of this detector is particularly suitable for those biological fluids in which BSs, whether free or conjugated, are present at millimolar levels.

A complete analytical procedure for BS analysis in bile or duodenal content has been developed, including an appropriate procedure for clean-up from the biological specimen. In highly concentrated gallbladder bile, in which BSs are present in concentrations of up to 150 m*M*, BSs can even be analyzed directly. However, clean-up is recommended by reversed-phase solid-phase extraction (SPE) using a C_{18} cartridge (Bond Elut, Sepack), which efficiently isolates BSs and their conjugates from biological



Fig. 1. Separation of glycine, taurine and unconjugated bile acids (6 nmol/injected) using a gradient system and the evaporative light-scattering detector. Column: Nova-Pak C18 Waters column (300×3.9 mm I.D., 4 µm particle size) thermostatted at 37±0.2°C. Gradient elution was performed with mixtures of methanol-15 mM ammonium acetate, pH 5.4 (65:35, v/v) (solvent A) and increasing methanol percentage to 75% (solvent B). The gradient profile adopted was: 15 min isocratic elution with A, convex gradient from A to B for 35 min, and 20 min isocratic elution with B at a flow-rate of 0.9 ml/min. Set up ELSD: carrier gas flow 40 p.s.i., drift tube temperature 130°C, exhaust gas temperature 85°C. 1=Tauroursodeoxycholic acid; 2 =glycoursodeoxycholic acid; 3=taurocholic acid; 4=glycocholic acid; 5=taurochenodeoxycholic acid; 6=taurodeoxycholic acid; 7=glycochenodeoxycholic acid; 8=ursodeoxycholic acid; 9= glycodeoxycholic acid; 10=taurolithocholic acid; 11=cholic acid; 12=glycolithocholic acid; 13=nordeoxycholic acid (internal standard); 14=chenodeoxycholic acid; 15=deoxycholic acid; 16= lithocholic acid. From Ref. [11] with permission.

fluids such as bile, serum, urine, stools, etc. By combining reversed-phase C_{18} with an anionic exchange system (SAX), separation of free, glycine-, taurine- and sulfated-conjugated BSs can be obtained before separative HPLC analysis [12]. Previously, this was accomplished using other resins, such as PHP-LH-20 (piperidinohydroxypropyl) (Fig. 2) [13] or by employing the ion-pair/Lipidex chromatography technique [14,15].

SPE is now the procedure of choice for BS cleaning, even though many endogenous compounds with similar physicochemical properties, such as cholesterol, steroids and bilirubins are co-eluted with the BSs.



Fig. 2. Group separation of bile acids on PHP-LH-20. Eluent: (a) 90% ethanol; (b) 0.1 *M* acetic acid in 90% ethanol; (c) 0.2 *M* formic acid in 90% ethanol; (d) 0.3 *M* acetic acid–potassium acetate (pH 6.3) in 90% ethanol; (e) 1% ammonium carbonate in 70% ethanol. F=Free, G=glycine conjugate, T=taurine conjugate, S=sulfate. From Ref. [13] with permission.

BS group separation using SPE ion-exchange cartridges like SAX must be carefully standardized in terms of composition, volume and ion strength of the elution buffers; unfortunately, batch-to-batch variability often occurs among commercially available cartridges [16]. Moreover, various BS fractions containing unconjugated, glycine- or taurine-conjugated sulfated BSs are aqueous solutions enriched with salts that must be removed prior to analysis by this technique.

Wahlén et al. [17] reported that the use of octadecylsilane-bonded silica results in a significant loss of sulfated-taurine and other double conjugates BSs, as well as bile alcohol glucuronides. Thus, C_{18} SPE, previously validated only for common BSs, needs to be further optimized for the determination of complete BS composition, particularly in urine samples [18,19]. It has been shown that the use of triethylamine sulfate in the starting samples improves the recovery of those BSs [17] and, unlike the sodium hydroxide dilution standard method, this procedure permits re-use of the cartridges with no loss in performance [16].

3. Separation method

3.1. Thin-layer chromatography

This technique has been widely used for BS separation and its application to different groups of BSs has been extensively reviewed [5,20,21]. Nowadays, TLC is mainly used during BS synthesis for a rapid check of a given reaction, or for BS identification.

Recently, it has been reported that TLC in combination with densitometry is useful for separating and detecting ¹⁴C- or ³H-labeled BSs. Using a radio-chromatographic system it is possible to simultaneously determine, in the same spot, both the concentration and the radioactivity of a given labeled BS, thus providing information about its specific activity. A typical radiochromatogram of a bile sample collected 48 h after intraduodenal administration of 173 kBq of [¹⁴C]cholic acid (CA) is shown in Fig. 3. This system has been validated and used for isotope dilution kinetics studies in man after administration of ¹⁴C-labeled CA. The validity of the method proposed [22] has been checked by comparison of the results obtained with those of enzymatic spectrophotometric analysis and measurement of the radioactivity by liquid scintillation counting after elution of the separated BSs from a TLC plate. Advantages of this method [22] over the previous one include a reduced number of manipulations, the



Fig. 3. Radiometric (continuous line) and densitometric (dashed line) profiles obtained for a bile sample collected 48 h after the intraduodenal administration of 173 kBq of $[^{14}C]$ cholic acid. From Ref. [22] with permission.

possibility of automation, better reproducibility, and the possibility of elaborating the radiometric data obtained for the primary BSs, which would serve to better characterize its metabolism in the enterohepatic circulation [22].

3.2. Gas chromatography

GC has been extensively used in BS analysis since, before HPLC, it was the only tool available for their identification and quantification in biological fluids. Thanks to this technique, many biological aspects of BSs have been clarified.

The pioneer works of gas-liquid chromatography were based on the use of a packed column with different phases, on which extensive reviews have been published [20,23,24].

More recently, these systems have been replaced by a capillary column in which BS resolution is greatly improved and the analysis time shortened [25,26].

This technique is particularly suitable for BS analysis in serum or urine where the expected concentration is very low. However the sample must undergo extensive preliminary clean-up, and the BSs under study must be derivatized to make it volatile and thermostable. The BSs are usually isolated by SPE with a C₁₈ cartridge and the different groups of BSs (free, glycine, taurine, sulfated, glucuronides), are separated by an ion-exchange system; conjugated BSs undergo enzymatic hydrolysis by cleaving either the C₂₄ amide bond (glycine or taurine) with cholylglycine hydrolase and by removing the hydroxy group derivatives (glucuronides or sulfates) using β -glucuronidase, aryl sulfatase. A typical routine procedure for serum BS analysis is described by Setchell and Worthington [27]. The free BSs isolated from the reaction products, usually by liquid-liquid extraction should be converted into methyl esters trimethylsilyl or trifluoroacetyl derivatives [20,24,28-31].

More recently, the formation of hexafluoroisopropyl ester trifluoroacetyl derivatives has proved to be a superior method, thanks to the simplicity of the derivatizing procedure, absence of artifact, higher resolution and increased sensitivity to electron-capture detection [32].

Unfortunately these complex and laborious pro-

cedures are a potential source of error. For example, a deconjugation step results in a loss of information about the type and site of conjugation, and it can produce artifact by inefficient hydrolysis. However direct GC analysis of glycine- [6,33–35] and glucoside-conjugated [36,37] BSs, without the necessity for a hydrolytic step, was achieved. In addition, the combined use of a suitable derivatives (Me-TMS or Me-DMES) and a new type of metal capillary column (Ultra ALLOY) have permitted direct GC determination of free, glycine-, glucoside-, glucuronides-conjugated BSs without prior deconjugation [38].

The most widely used detection method for GC analysis is flame ionization detection; however, despite the linearity of the response with the mass injected, there is some variability among the different BSs.

3.2.1. Mass spectrometry

The combination of GC with MS is currently the reference method for determining of stereochemistry variety of BS structure as well as their analysis in biological fluids.

Mass spectra data for a large variety of BSs was recently reported by Lawson and Setchell [39]. The library is limited to the spectra of methyl ester– trimethylsilyl ether derivatives, but many other derivatives have also been studied and described [40,41].

Electron impact ionization (EI), the most common method, gives a large pattern of fragmentation that is useful for diagnostic purposes and structural information. A conventional mass spectrometer can be used, with most methods using 70 kW for electron impact energy. A reference file of fragmentation profiles useful for comparative purposes could be so obtained.

Chemical ionization (CI) gives a softer impact and, consequently, a reduced fragmentation pattern; its advantage is the increase in sensitivity that results from the ionization being limited to fewer ions. This technique is less used, but could be complementary to EI.

Fast atom bombardment (FAB), a recently introduced technique for BS analysis, has been demonstrated to be very useful and powerful. It can produce both positive and negative ions such as $[M+H]^+$ and $[M-H]^-$, together with cationized species. Unconjugated bile acids (BAs) are readily ionized by FAB, and their mass spectra have been well characterized [42,43]. FAB is not a quantitative method, but is very useful for BS identification. FAB mass spectra of conjugated BAs have been also studied [42–47]. However, it is not possible to differentiate BA isomers from their FAB spectra without a prior chromatographic separation step.

Even more recently, thermospray ionization, ion spray and electrospray ionization (ES) have been developed and applied to BS analysis [48–51]. Our laboratory has also used the latter in combination with HPLC or micro-HPLC; we have found good detectability down to the pmol/injected level of both free and amidated BSs (see Section 3.2.2.).

3.2.2. Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry

Following the introduction of GC–MS in the early 1960s and some early work on BA derivatives [52–54], this technique has contributed more than any other to the elucidation of the structures of BSs in biological fluids by providing a means for separating the complex mixtures of acids encountered in such samples. As a single system, GC has found wide utility for BS identification and quantification, and some conditions for these analyses have been incorporated into those used for GC–MS [41,55–57].

The preparation of volatile derivatives of BAs has been the subject of many studies, and references to these have recently been summarized [55]. The most commonly applied derivatives are the acetates, trifluoroacetates and trimethylsilyl ethers of the methyl cholanoates (Me-TMS); although each has particular advantages, of late the Me-TMS ethers have become the most widely adopted for qualitative purposes. In quantitative studies, where sensitivity and selectivity are the priority, the ammonia CI spectra of methyl acetates [58,59] and the EI spectra of methyl esters alkyldimethylsilyl ethers [60–62] may be a more appropriate choice.

However, the observation of artifacts under the conditions for silyl derivatization in some BS derivatives, such as $3 \cdot 0x0 \cdot \Delta^4$ and $3 \cdot 0x0 \cdot \Delta^{4,6}$ -BSs, has prompted a search for new derivatizing agents. A newly reported method for derivatization of $3 \cdot 0x0 \cdot \Delta^4$ and $3 \cdot 0x0 \cdot \Delta^{4,6}$ -BSs employs stable methoxymino derivatization prior to SPE, enzymatic deconjugation and derivatization to the methyl ester-dimethylethylsilyl ether [63]. With this pretreatment the formation of 3-oxo- $\Delta^{4,6}$ -BSs through silyl ether derivatization for the 7 α -hydroxylated 3-oxo- Δ^{4} -BSs is completely suppressed, allowing accurate GC-MS analysis of 3-oxo BS in biological fluids [63].

The introduction of capillary columns (15–50 m \times 0.25-0.5 mm I.D.) have eliminated many of the problems attendant on the use of packed columns and high gas flow-rates. The need for the carrier gas separator as an interface between GC and MS is now avoided by the column passing without interruption directly into the ion source, thus avoiding the potential absorption and thermal effects of the carrier gas separator, and the ion source pumping system can easily cope with the 0.5-2 ml min⁻¹ flow of carrier gas. Chemically bonded liquid phases in capillary columns have much greater thermal stability and can be cleaned by solvents. This has virtually eliminated earlier difficulties with columns whose phase would bleed into the ion source to produce a high background of ions. The sensitivity and scan speed of mass spectrometers have had to be increased to take full advantages of the higher separation efficiencies of capillary columns.

3.2.3. BS kinetics by isotope ratio MS

The use of stable isotope for in vivo BS kinetic studies is a useful technique to determine the BS pool size and fractional turnover rate. By oral administration of [13 C]CA labeled in the side chain it is possible to calculate values for the above parameters by measuring the 13 C/ 12 C isotope ratio in serum samples [64–66].

The BSs must first be isolated from the serum sample, undergo hydrolysis and the trimethylsilyl derivatives analyzed by GC–MS using a capillary column such as DB-1 (J&W Scientific, Rancho Cordova, CA, USA) and a conventional quadrupole mass spectrometer [67].

Ions at m/z 459/458 for CA and at 371/370 for deoxycholic acid containing the side chain are measured by selected ion monitoring (SIM) from the samples after administration of ¹³C isotope and then compared with those of unenriched samples. The linear correlation between enrichment in isotope ratio and molar ratio of labeled to unlabeled CA permits

determination of the steady-state kinetics of the BA. This procedure does not require quantitative preinstrumental steps, but precise evaluation of the isotope ratio is necessary. Indeed, when significant error is introduced into the measurement of isotope ratios, such as occurs at low serum concentrations of bile acids or at low isotopic enrichment, the determinations of the kinetic will be inaccurate. Usually the coefficient of variation of isotope ratio ranges from 0.1 to 8% as a function of the mass spectrometer used [67].

Fig. 4 shows a capillary gas chromatogram of a sample of normal human serum obtained in our laboratory following the proposed method [67].

3.3. High-performance liquid chromatography

This technique has been widely applied in BS analysis only in the last 20 years. The main advantage over GC is that some BS classes (glycine or taurine conjugates) can be analyzed directly without preliminary derivatization procedures. The most popular stationary phase utilizes a C_{18} reversedphase silica gel and, thanks to continuous increases in the column technology (controlled uniformity of the particles), many BSs can be separated with high-resolution [68–74]. Fig. 5 shows a typical HPLC resolution of more than 12 conjugated BSs obtained in less than 40 min under isocratic conditions [10].

The main drawback of HPLC is limited ability to detect the separated BSs; UV detection can be used at 200–210 nm with moderate sensitivity for amidated BSs, but it useless for unconjugated BSs due to their markedly low absorbance. To increase sensitivity the BSs can be pre- or post-column derivatized to form compounds that are more sensitive to UV or fluorimetric detection.

The pre-column derivatization reaction can be carried out on the 3α -OH group of free, glycine- and taurine-conjugated BSs, or on the carboxylic group on the side chain of free and glyco-BS. Table 1 lists the most common pre-column derivatizing reagents. Methods that use fluorescence detection are the most promising because extremely high sensitivity is possible with reasonable selectivity. Esterification of the carboxyl group with *N*-(9-acridinyl)-bromo-acetamide gives detection limits of 10 to 100 fmol injected [86], while 3-(4-bromomethylphenyl)-7-



Fig. 4. Total ion current chromatogram and selected ion monitoring of ions at 370 and 458 of a serum sample analyzed by GC-MS.

diethylaminocoumarin, a newly synthesized labeling reagent for analysis of stereoisomeric C_{27} -BAs, permits detection limits of about 15 fmol [87]. Recently proposed as such a reagent, 2-bromoacetyl-6-methoxynaphthalene [88] has proven to be suitable



Fig. 5. HPLC chromatogram of standard mixture of conjugated bile acid: Altex Ultrex C_{18} column (250×4.6 mm I.D., 5 µm particle size); isocratic elution with methanol–0.01 *M* phosphate buffer, pH 5.35 (75:25, v/v), at a flow-rate of 0.7 ml/min, and spectrophotometric detection at 200 nm. 1=Ursodeoxycholyl taurine; 2=sulfolithocholyl taurine; 3=ursodeoxycholyl glycine; 4=cholyl taurine; 5=sulfolithocholyl glycine; 6=cholyl glycine; 7=chenodeoxycholyl taurine; 8=deoxycholyl taurine; 9= chenodeoxycholyl glycine; 10=deoxycholyl glycine; 11= lithocholyl taurine; 12=lithocholyl glycine; I.S.=3 α ,12 α ,5 β cholanoil glycine (internal standard). From Ref. [10] with permission.

for the determination of ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) and chenodeoxycholic acid (CDCA) in their pharmaceutical forms as well as for the analysis of conjugated BSs and the major unconjugated BSs in human serum. Fig. 6 shows the chromatogram of free and glycoconjugated BSs derivatized with 2-bromoacetyl-6-methoxynaphthalene.

After oxidation of the 3α -hydroxy group of free and conjugated BSs to a 3-oxo group by a 3α hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase enzyme, selective derivatization using dansylhydrazine is possible. The detection limit of dansylhydrazone derivative is 0.5 pmol [89,90]. The same technique has been also successfully utilized for the separation of stereoisomers of bile alcohols determined by the configuration of hydroxy groups on the side chain using 2,4-dinitrophenylhydrazine as the labeling agent [91]. The 3α -hydroxy group can also be directly transformed into a 3-(1-anthroyl) ester with a detection limit of 20 fmol [86,92–95].

The reversed-phase principle allows the use of aqueous methanol or acetonitrile as a mobile phase, making it possible to use a BS specific and sensitive enzymatic post-column detector formed by immobilizing a BS specific enzyme (3α -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase) on a second column [96–98]. 3α -Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase transforms the 3α -

270

Table 1

Most commo	n pre-column	derivatizing	reagents for	· HPLC	detection	of	bile :	salts
------------	--------------	--------------	--------------	--------	-----------	----	--------	-------

Reagent	Detection	Ref.		
	UV (nm)	Fluorimetric		
		ex (nm)	em (nm)	
Carboxyl group				
2-Phenacyl bromide	254			[75]
O-(p-Nitrobenzyl)-N,N'-diisopropylurea	254			[76,77]
<i>p</i> -Bromo-phenacyl bromide	254			[78-81]
N-Chloromethyl-4-nitrophthalimide	254			[78]
4-Bromomethyl-7-methoxycoumarin		360	410	[81-83]
1-Bromoacetylpyrene		370	440	[84,85]
N-(9-Acridinyl)-bromoacetamide		357	570	[86]
3-(4-Bromomethylphenyl)-7-diethylaminocoumarin		400	475	[87]
2-Bromoacetyl-6-methoxynaphthalene		300	460	[88]
3α -Hydroxy group				
Dansylhydrazine		436	520	[89,90]
2,4-Dinitrophenylhydrazine	364			[91]
1-AnthroyInitrile				[86,92–95]

hydroxy group of BSs in the 3-oxo group in the presence of NAD⁺. The NADH produced is monitored by UV (340 nm) [99,100], fluorescence [101], or chemiluminescence [102] detection. The enzymatic reaction can be further coupled with electrochemical detection if a solution of phenazine methasulfate is added; however no significant difference in the detection limit has been found with respect to the fluorescence detection [103,104].

The main drawbacks of the above reported methods of derivatization are that they are time consuming, sometimes laborious, and, due to matrix effect, they do not assure complete sample conversion.

The fact that MS is an invaluable method for providing definitive qualitative and quantitative information in BS analysis has inspired efforts to produce a satisfactory combination of HPLC–MS instrumentation. In the past, HPLC–MS combination was most commonly employed in the discontinuous mode, in which chromatographic fractions were subjected to MS individually [105,106]. An important development in MS technology has been the introduction of FAB; utilizing a high-energy ionizing atom beam, quasimolecular ions are almost always produced, although sufficient energy is generally transferred to the ionized molecules to produce fragmentation. The formation of adducts and matrix ions and the inability of direct FAB to differentiate isomeric structures, made the combination with online separation desirable. Ito and co-workers [107,108] were the first to apply FAB (frit-FAB) in ionization of BA effluent from a capillary column.

In 1993, micro HPLC continuous-flow FAB was developed for the analysis of urinary BS (free, conjugated and oxo derivatives, this last after reduction with sodium borodeuteride) [109]. With this technique negative pseudomolecular ions were produced. When combined with chromatographic separation, it could identify and quantify positional and stereoisomers of urinary BSs not distinguishable by their FAB spectra. The method is particularly suitable for high sample throughput; it allows sample analysis with a picogram range of detectability, at 4-min intervals [109].

The development in the early 1980s of the thermospray ionization interface permitted coupling of the HPLC column directly to the MS thereby allowing continuous real-time in-line monitoring of the effluent [110,111]. Setchell and Vestal [48] developed a method for qualitative and quantitative analysis of free, glycoconjugated and tauroconjugated BSs in bile and serum utilizing negative thermospray ionization.

By SIM of the pseudomolecular ion it is possible to achieve a sensitivity of 10 to 20 pmol per injection. Fig. 7 shows the total ion current chro-



Fig. 6. Representative HPLC separation at ambient temperature of a standard mixture of free and glycoconjugated bile acids (30 μ M) derivatized with 2-bromoacetyl-6-methoxynaphthalene. 1 =Glycocholic acid; 2=glycoursodeoxycholic acid; 3 =glycochenodeoxycholic acid; 4=glycodeoxyxholic acid; 5=cholic acid; 6=ursodeoxycholic acid; 7=glycolithocholic acid; 8= chenodeoxycholic acid; 9=deoxycholic acid; 10=lithocholic acid; R=reagent peak. Column: Hypersil RP-18 (250×4.6 mm I.D., 5 µm particle size). Gradient elution with mixtures of water (A), acetonitrile (B) of varying composition (v/v). The gradient profile adopted was: t=0 min, 60% B; t=10 min, 60% B; t=20 min, 80% B; t=45 min, 80% B; t=50 min, 60% B at a flow-rate of 1.0 ml/min. Fluorescence detection λ_{ex} =300 nm; λ_{em} =460 nm. From Ref. [88] with permission.

matogram obtained by thermospray ionization HPLC–MS of eight conjugated BSs; in the same figure the mass spectrum of one eluted BS indicates the presence of pseudomolecular ions with relatively little fragmentation (consecutive losses of water, due to each hydroxy group in the molecule) [48].

Technological advances in interfacing HPLC–MS have led to the development of ES systems [112–114], which have turned out to be extremely useful for the analysis of proteins and other high-molecularmass substances. We have developed an HPLC–MS method with an ES interface for the qualitative and quantitative analysis of BSs in biological fluids. In this study [115] good separation of free as well as glycine- and taurine-conjugated BSs was achieved with a conventional HPLC system equipped with a post-column splitter that diverted part of eluate into the ES source at a flow-rate of 18μ I/min. When BSs were ionized in the ES interface, operating in the negative-ion mode, only $[M-H]^-$ molecular ions were generated; the detection limit was 15 pg injected for all BS studied. Alternatively, a microbore HPLC was utilized; with this system, a head-column enrichment technique was used that permitted improvement in the detection limit to 5 pg injected. Figs. 8 and 9 give total ion chromatograms from the injection of a mixture of BS standards using, respectively, the conventional HPLC and the microbore HPLC–ES-MS systems [115].

ES mode has proved to be a powerful tool for simultaneous determination and detection of many BS derivatives. Ikegawa and co-workers developed a method for separatory determination of BS 3-sulfated [116] or 3-glucuronides [117] in human urine by HPLC–ES-MS. These derivatives are characterized by pseudomolecular ions $[M-H]^-$ and $[M-2H]^{2-}$; the ratio of these ions is influenced by the acidic component of salt added to the mobile phase according to the pK_a value of the side chain. Therefore, with a suitable mobile phase and operating in selected ion monitoring, a good separation can be achieved with a detection limit of 200 fmol, 1000-times lower than that obtained with UV detection [116,117].

Another example of BS analysis by HPLC combined with MS is based on ion spray ionization. Warrack and DiDonato [51] reported a method for qualitative and quantitative analysis of free and conjugated BSs in monkey bile using an ion-spray interface coupled with HPLC or micro HPLC system. Intense and reproducible $[M+H]^+$ ions and $[H+CH_3CN+H]^+$ adducts were observed, providing, on the basis of their relative abundance, a means for identification of several BSs and their isomeric forms. Adduct ions were most abundant for free acids, but were reduced for glycine and taurine conjugates; detection limits by ion-spray microbore HPLC–MS and SIM from 40 to 100 fmol were calculated.

LC–MS is improving on a seemingly daily basis; one example is the combined use of soft ionization techniques (FAB and ES) for the successful qualitative analysis of BSs and bile alcohols conjugates in urine from infant with cholestatic liver disease in which more than 150 of these substances were



Fig. 7. (A) Total ion current chromatogram obtained by thermospray ionization HPLC–MS of a mixture of eight conjugated BAs (5 μ g). Ultrasphere ODS column (250×4.6 mm I.D., 5 μ m particle size). Isocratic elution with methanol–ammonium acetate, pH 5.7, (75:25, v/v) at a flow-rate 1 ml/min. Temperatures used to achieve thermospray were as follows: control temperature T_1 =126°C, vaporizer temperature T_2 =201°C, source block temperature T_3 =318°C, tip heater temperature T_4 =315°C, vapor temperature T_5 =265°C, lens heater temperature T_6 =120°C. Ionization was facilitated by filament-on mode and negative ion spectra were recorded by continuous repetitive scanning over the mass range m/z=400–550 Da. 1=Taurocholic acid; 2=glycocholic acid; 3=taurochenodeoxycholic acid; 4=glycochenodeoxycholic acid; 5=taurodeoxycholic acid; 6=glycodeoxycholic acid; 7=taurolithocholic acid; 8=glycolithocholic acid. (B) Negative ion thermospray ionization mass spectrum of peak 2 (glycocholic acid). From Ref. [48] with permission.



Fig. 8. Total ion chromatograms from the injection of a mixture of bile acids standards (free, glycine- and taurine-conjugated) at the 40 pg level. Column: Ultrasphere XL C₁₈, 3 μ m particle silica size (70×4.6 mm I.D.). Gradient elution with mixtures of different solvent systems: (A) methanol-15 m*M* ammonium acetate solution (66:34, v/v, pH 5.4); (B) methanol-15 m*M* ammonium acetate solution (75:25, v/v, pH 6.0); (C) methanol 100%. The gradient profile adopted was: t=0 min, 90% A, 0% B, 10% C; t=15 min, 90% A, 0% B, 10% C; t=23 min, 100% A; t=40 min, 0% A, 80% B, 20% C; t=50 min, 100% B; t=60 min, 0% A, 65% B, 35% C; t=70 min, 90% A, 0% B, 10% C at a flow-rate of 0.3 ml/min. Probe voltage, 3.19 kV; counter electrode, 0.54 V; cone voltage, 56 V; source temperature, 68°C; flow-rate at source, 18 μ l/min. From Ref. [115] with permission.



Fig. 9. Total ion chromatograms obtained by microbore-HPLC–ES-MS analysis of a mixture of eight bile acids standards, at a level of 20 pg component. Column: C_{18} microbore column Fusica with 0.3 mm I.D. Mobile phase and gradient profile adopted are as described in Fig. 8. Mobile phase flow-rate 1.4 µl/min. From Ref. [115] with permission.

detected, after anion-exchange chromatography [50]. Other interface are under study for BS analysis, including ion-trap.

3.4. Supercritical fluid chromatography

SFC is a technique suitable for the analysis of non-volatile and thermally labile compounds that cannot be analyzed by GC, or that require analysis time faster than that obtainable with HPLC [118]. Employing substances such as carbon dioxide above their critical temperature and pressure as mobile phase, relatively non-polar molecules can be efficiently separated; by adding a few percent of polar solvent to the mobile phase, SFC can be extended to more polar solutes [118,119].

In the past few years, SFC has been applied to the separation of free, glyco- and tauro-BSs [118,120,121]; in terms of the separation rate of BS, it is faster than reversed-phase HPLC, and it provides alternative separation selectivity with respect to conventional HPLC systems. For example, by adding methanol to supercritical CO_2 and using a phenylbonded phase or cyanopropyl columns for free and conjugated BSs, respectively [120,121], these com-

pounds are eluted following a normal-phase mechanism.

Unfortunately, some drawbacks have also been reported; conjugated dihydroxy isomers are not completely resolved and, in general, BS separation is less reproducible than that obtainable by reversed-phase HPLC [121,122]. These disadvantages, plus the fact that most separations involving BS mixtures can be performed by existing HPLC or GC methods, have relegated SFC to a less important role in BS analysis.

3.5. Capillary electrophoresis

CE is a relatively new technique under continuous improvement.

In this separative technique, BSs are often used in the CE buffer to set up micellar electrokinetic capillary chromatography, thanks to the ability of BSs to form aqueous micellar solution in which critical micelle concentration (CMC) size and aggregation number is related to the BS structure [4]. Using these systems, it has been possible to achieve an enhanced selective and resolutive power.

Until now, few papers report the use of CE for BS

separation and limited only to pure BS solutions [123].

The main limitation for BS analysis is the poor molar absorption of conjugated BSs (and even less for free BSs). Snopek et al. [124] reported a relatively good separation of a series of free BSs and oxo derivatives, using isotachophoresis with an aqueous electrolyte buffer containing β -cyclodextrins and conductivity as a detection system [124].

The analysis of free and conjugated BSs has been reported but some BS showed incomplete resolution.

More recently Quaglia et al. [125] describe an indirect UV detection of ursodeoxycholic acid in pharmaceutical forms using high-performance capillary zone electrophoresis (HPCE). The background electrolyte contains UV absorbing ions, such as benzoic acid or 5,5-diethylbarbituric acid and β -cyclodextrins to improve the BS resolution. The non-absorbing BSs will displace the absorbing species at the UV detector resulting in a decrease of absorbance related to their concentration in the buffer. The authors reported that, with this system, they increase the BS detectability about 100-times.

Unfortunately, until now CE has been applied only to pure BS solutions and no data are available about its applicability to complex biological fluids where HPLC or GC techniques are still superior.

The recent introduction of combined techniques which take advantage of different principles, such as electrochromatography [126], could improve the analytical performance of this technique. Moreover the interface between CE and MS, using electrospray interface, could resolve problem of BS detection in terms of sensitivity and detectability.

4. Conclusions

Despite great improvements in both separative and detection techniques, there is still much room for improvement in BS quali–quantitative analysis in complex biological matrices.

Clean-up of sample such as urine or tissue remains problematic due to the broad differences in BS physicochemical properties and to the fact that commercially available materials need to be further standardized.

The choice of separation technique must take into

account the concentration and composition in BS of the sample to be analyzed and, at the same time, combine easy use and eventually clinical practicability.

Among the analytical techniques for BS analysis here reviewed, HPLC and GC are more suitable than TLC, SFC or CE: TLC does not have sufficient resolutive power, while SFC is limited by lower resolution and reproducibility than HPLC. CE, until now, has been applied only to pure BS solutions and no data are available about its applicability to complex biological fluids.

GC-MS is widely employed for identifying and quantifying many BSs in various metabolic stages, but use of this technique entails a series of laborious pre-analytical steps, including preliminary separation of BSs by class, hydrolysis and derivatization, which limit its analytical performance considerably. HPLC, offers an excellent method of separation and does not require preliminary derivatization procedures, but it is hampered by unsatisfactory sensitivity and the need for specific detector systems. Because of persistent need for a rapid and accurate means of screening BSs and their minor metabolites in biological samples, many efforts have been made in recent years to improve HPLC technology, especially in terms of sensitivity. HPLC-MS techniques have been developed, and like GC-MS, now represent a powerful tool for analysis of biological fluids. Nevertheless, combined separation and detection systems are the current better choice for obtaining complete and accurate data about BS composition in a complex biological matrix.

References

- L.R. Engelking, S. Barnes, B.I. Hirschowitz, C.A. Dascher, J.G. Spenny, D. Naftel, Clin. Sci. 68 (1980) 485–492.
- [2] Z.R. Vlachevic, C.C. Bell, I. Butiac, J.T. Ferrar, L. Swell, Gastroenterology 59 (1970) 165–173.
- [3] T. Hoshita, in: S. Ikawa, H. Kawasaki, N. Kaibara, (Eds.), Advances in Bile Acids and Bile Alcohol Research in Japan, Tokyotanabesoyoji Co. Ltd., Japan, Ch. 30, 1984, p. 445.
- [4] A. Roda, A.F. Hofmann, K.J. Mysels, J. Biol. Chem. 258 (1983) 6362–6370.
- [5] S. Scalia, J. Chromatogr. B 671 (1995) 299-317.
- [6] J. Street, K.D.R. Setchell, Biomed. Chromatogr. 2 (1988) 229.

- [7] J. Goto, T. Nambara, in: T. Hanai (Ed.), Liquid Chromatography in Biomedical Analysis (Journal of Chromatography Library, Vol. 50), Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1991, pp. 81–108.
- [8] J.M. Street, D.J.H. Trafford, H.L.J. Makin, J. Lipid Res. 24 (1983) 491–511.
- [9] K.D.R. Setchell, A.M. Lawson, in: A.M. Lawson (Ed.), Clinical Biochemistry – Principles, Methods, Apllications, Vol. 1, Walter de Gruiter, Berlin, New York, 1989, pp. 55–125.
- [10] S.S. Rossi, J.L. Converse, A.F. Hofmann, J. Lipid Res. 28 (1987) 589.
- [11] A. Roda, C. Cerré, P. Simoni, C. Polimeni, C. Vaccari, A. Pistillo, J. Lipid Res. 33 (1992) 1393.
- [12] S. Scalia, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 3 (1990) 235.
- [13] J. Goto, T. Nambara, in: S. Ikawa, H. Kawasaki, N. Kaibara (Eds.), Advances in Bile Acids and Bile Alcohol Research in Japan, Tokyotanabesoyoji Co. Ltd., Japan, Ch. 6, 1984, p. 107.
- [14] A.F. Hofmann, J. Lipid Res. 8 (1967) 55.
- [15] J. Sjovall, in: L. Bianchi, W. Gerok, K. Sickinger (Eds.), Analytical Methods and Studies of Bile Acids Metabolism, MTP Press, Lancaster, 1976, p. 67.
- [16] C.M. Rodrigues, K.D.R. Setchell, Biomed. Chromatogr. 10(1) (1996) 1–5.
- [17] E. Wahlén, N. Tamasawa, H. Ichimiya, B. Egestad, J. Sjovall, J. Lipid Res. 35 (1994) 1902–1906.
- [18] B. Strandvik, E. Wahlén, S.A. Wikstrom, Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. 54 (1994) 1–10.
- [19] E. Wahlén, B. Egestad, B. Strandvik, J. Sjovall, J. Lipid Res. 30 (1989) 1847–1857.
- [20] P. Eneroth, J. Sjovall, in: P.P. Nair, D. Kritchevsky (Eds.), The Bile Acids, Vol. 1, Plenum Press, New York, London, 1971, pp. 121–168.
- [21] A.F. Hofmann, in: A.T. James, L.J. Morris (Eds.), New Biochemical Separations, D. Van Nostrand, London, 1964, pp. 261–282.
- [22] D. Tonelli, E. Gattavecchia, G. Mazzella, A. Roda, J. Chromatogr. B 700 (1997) 59–66.
- [23] E. Heftmann, Chromatography of Steroids (Journal of Chromatography Library, Vol. 8), Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1976, pp. 71–77.
- [24] W.H. Elliott, L.B. Walsh, M.M. Mui, M.A. Thorne, C.M. Siegfried, J. Chromatogr. 44 (1969) 452–464.
- [25] K.D.R. Setchell, A.M. Lawson, N. Tanida, J. Sjovall, J. Lipid Res. 24 (1983) 1085–1100.
- [26] K.D.R. Setchell, A. Matsui, Clin. Chim. Acta 127 (1983) 1–17.
- [27] K.D.R. Setchell, J. Worthington, Clin. Chim. Acta 141 (1982) 261.
- [28] M.N. Makita, W.W. Wells, Anal. Biochem. 5 (1963) 523.
- [29] A. Kuksis, B.A. Gordon, Can. J. Biochem. Physiol. 41 (1963) 1355.
- [30] D.H. Sandberg, J. Sjovall, D.A. Turner, J. Lipid Res. 6 (1965) 182.
- [31] S.M. Grundy, E.H. Ahrens Jr., T.A. Miettinen, J. Lipid Res. 6 (1965) 397.
- [32] K. Imai, Z. Tamiura, F. Mashige, T. Osuga, J. Chromatogr. 120 (1976) 181.

- [33] T. Lida, T. Itoh, K. Hagiwara, F.C. Chang, J. Goto, T. Nambara, Lipids 24 (1989) 1053.
- [34] T. Lida, T. Tamaru, F.C. Chang, J. Goto, T. Nambara, Biomed. Chromatogr. 6 (1992) 4.
- [35] T. Lida, T. Tamaru, F.C. Chang, J. Goto, T. Nambara, J. Chromatogr. 558 (1991) 451.
- [36] H.U. Marschall, B. Egestad, H. Matern, J. Sjovall, FEBS Lett. 213 (1987) 411.
- [37] H. Wietholtz, H.U. Marschall, R. Reuschenbach, H. Matern, S. Matern, Hepatology 13 (1991) 656.
- [38] T. Lida, S. Tazawa, T. Tamaru, J. Goto, T. Nambara, J. Chromatogr. A 689 (1995) 77–84.
- [39] A.M. Lowson, K.D.R. Setchell, in: K.D.R. Setchell, D. Kritchevsky, P.P. Nair (Eds.), The Bile Acids Chemistry, Physiology and Metabolism, Vol. 4, Plenum Press, New York, London, 1988, Ch. 5, pp. 226–258.
- [40] R. Edenharder, J. Slemr, J. Chromatogr. 222 (1981) 1-12.
- [41] J. Sjovall, P. Eneroth, R. Ryhage, in: P.P. Nair, D. Kritchevsky (Eds.), The Bile Acids – Chemistry, Physiology and Metabolism, Plenum Press, New York, London, 1971, pp. 209–248.
- [42] J.O. Whitney, A.L. Burlingame, Koenshu-Iyo Masu Kenkyukai 7 (1982) 3.
- [43] J.O. Whitney, M.M. Thaler, Blanckert, in: G. Paumgartner, A. Stiehl, W. Gerok (Eds.), Bile Acids and Cholesterol in Health Disease, MTP Press, Lancaster, England, 1983, p. 213.
- [44] J.O. Withney, S. Lewis, K.M. Straub, M.M. Thaler, A.L. Burlingame, Proc. Jpn Soc. Med Mass Spectrom., Koenshu-Iyo Masu Kenkyukai 6 (1981) 33.
- [45] J.O. Withney, S. Lewis, K.M. Straub, F.C. Walls, A.L. Burlingame, M.M. Thaler, in: Proceedings 29th Annual Conference Mass Spectrometry, Allied Topics, American Society for Mass Spectrometry, Minneapolis, MN, 1981, p. 729.
- [46] J.O. Withney, V. Ling, D. Grundberger, M.M. Thaler, A.L. Burlingame, Proc. Jpn Soc. Med. Mass Spectrom. 8 (1983) 47.
- [47] J.O. Withney, D. Grundberger, E. Roitman, V. Ling, Y.-M. Yang, P. Rosenthal, A.L. Burlingame, in: Proceedings 32nd Annual Conference Mass Spectrometry, Allied Topics, American Society for Mass Spectrometry, San Antonio, TX, 1984, p. 133.
- [48] K.D.R. Setchell, C.H. Vestal, J. Lipid Res. 30 (1989) 1459.
- [49] C. Eckers, N.J. Hasckins, T. Large, Biomed. Environ. Mass Spectrom. 18 (1989) 702.
- [50] Y. Yang, W.J. Griffiths, H. Nazer, J. Sjovall, Biomed. Chromatogr. 11 (1997) 240–255.
- [51] B.M. Warrack, G.C. DiDonato, Biol. Mass Spectrom. 20 (1993) 101.
- [52] S. Bergstrom, R. Ryhage, E. Stenhagen, Acta Chem. Scand. 12 (1958) 1349.
- [53] R. Ryhage, E. Stenhagen, J. Lipid Res. 1 (1960) 361.
- [54] S. Bergstrom, R. Ryhage, E. Stenhagen, Svensk. Kem. Tidskr. 73 (1961) 566.
- [55] J. Sjovall, A.M. Lawson, K.D.R. Setchell, in: J.H. Law, H.C. Rilling (Eds.), Methods in Enzymology, Vol. 111, Academic Press, London, 1985, p. 63.

- [56] W.H. Elliot, in: G.R. Waller (Ed.), Biochemical Applications of Mass Spectrometry – Mass Spectra of Bile Acids, Wiley Intersience, New York, London, 1972, p. 291.
- [57] W.H. Elliot, in: G.R. Waller, O.C. Dermer (Eds.), Biochemical Applications of Mass Spectrometry – Mass Spectra of Bile Acids, First Supplementary Volume, Wiley Interscience, New York, London, 1980, p. 229.
- [58] P.A. Szczepanik, D.L. Hachey, P.D. Klein, J. Lipid Res. 17 (1976) 314.
- [59] K. Kuriyama, Y. Ban, T. Nakashima, T. Murata, Steroids 34 (1979) 717.
- [60] H. Miyazaki, M. Ishibashi, K. Yamashita, Biomed. Mass Spectrom. 5 (1978) 469.
- [61] A. Fukunaga, Y. Hatta, M. Ishibashi, M. Miyazaki, J. Chromatogr. 190 (1980) 339.
- [62] S.H.G. Andersson, J. Sjovall, J. Chromatogr. 289 (1984) 195.
- [63] M. Suzuki, T. Murai, T. Yoshimura, A. Kimura, T. Kurosawa, M. Thoma, J. Chromatogr. B 693 (1997) 11–21.
- [64] F. Stellaard, M. Sackmann, T. Sauerbruch, G. Paumgartner, J. Lipid Res. 25 (1984) 1313–1319.
- [65] F. Stellaard, R. Schubert, G. Paumgartner, Biomed Mass Spectrom. 10 (1983) 187–191.
- [66] T. Tateyama, Y. Nezu, M. Shino, K. Sakaguchi, K. Katayama, J. Tsutsumi, Proceedings of 3rd Meeting Japan Soc. Med. Mass Spectrom., Tokyo, 1978, pp. 207–214.
- [67] T. Everson, J. Lipid Res. 28 (1987) 238-251.
- [68] A. Cantafora, A. Di Biase, M. Angelico, Clin. Res. 28 (1980) 628.
- [69] J. Goto, H. Kato, J. Nambara, J. Liq. Chromatogr. 3 (1980) 645.
- [70] K. Maruyana, H. Tanimura, Y. Hsaka, Clin. Chim. Acta 100 (1980) 47.
- [71] F. Nakayama, M. Nakagaki, J. Chromatogr. 183 (1980) 287.
- [72] S. Okuyama, D. Uemura, Y. Hirata, Chem. Lett. 9 (1976) 679.
- [73] N.A. Parris, J. Chromatogr. 133 (1977) 273.
- [74] R. Shaw, J.A. Smith, W.H. Elliot, Anal. Biochem. 86 (1978) 450.
- [75] F. Stellard, D.L. Hachey, P.D. Klein, Anal. Biochem. 87 (1978) 359–366.
- [76] S. Okuyama, D. Uemura, Y. Hirata, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jap. 52 (1979) 124–126.
- [77] B. Shaikh, N.J. Pontzer, J.E. Moliva, M.I. Kelsey, Anal. Biochem. 87 (1978) 47–54.
- [78] T. Lida, Y. Ohnuki, F.C. Chang, J. Goto, T. Nambara, Lipids 20 (1985) 187–194.
- [79] G. Mingrone, A.V. Greco, S. Passi, J. Chromatogr. 183 (1980) 277–286.
- [80] G.R. Campbell, W. Odling-Smee, G.B. Irvine, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 17 (1989) 374–375.
- [81] S. Okuyama, D. Uemura, Y. Hirata, Chem. Lett. 461 (1979) 461–462.
- [82] K. Shimada, Y. Komine, T. Oe, J. Liq. Chromatogr. 12 (1989) 491–500.
- [83] S.C. Andreolini-Beale, M. Novotny, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr., Chromatogr. Commun. 11 (1988) 20–24.

- [84] S. Kamada, M. Maeda, A. Tsuji, J. Chromatogr. 272 (1983) 29–41.
- [85] S. Ikawa, M. Miyaka, T. Mura, M. Ikeguchi, J. Chromatogr. 400 (1987) 149–161.
- [86] S. Allenmark, M. Chelminska-Bertilsson, R.A. Thompson, Anal. Biochem. 185 (1990) 279–285.
- [87] T. Kurosawa, H. Sato, H. Takechi, M. Machida, M. Thoma, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 15 (1997) 1375–1382.
- [88] V. Cavrini, R. Gatti, A. Roda, C. Cerrè, P. Roversi, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 11 (1993) 761.
- [89] T. Kawasaki, M. Maeda, A. Tsuji, J. Chromatogr. 272 (1983) 261–268.
- [90] A.D. Reid, P.R. Baker, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 13 (1985) 1235.
- [91] M. Une, J. Harada, T. Mikami, T. Hoshita, J. Chromatogr. B 682(1) (1996) 157–161.
- [92] J. Goto, M. Saito, T. Chikai, N. Goto, T. Nambara, J. Chromatogr. 276 (1983) 289–300.
- [93] J. Goto, S. Gang, H. Miura, T. Nambara, J. Liq. Chromatogr. 12 (1989) 1075–1084.
- [94] J. Goto, T. Chikai, T. Nambara, J. Chromatogr. 415 (1987) 149–161.
- [95] J. Goto, Y. Sano, K. Tsuchiya, T. Nambara, J. Chromatogr. 425 (1988) 59–66.
- [96] D. Ishii, S. Murata, T. Takeuchi, J. Chromatogr. 282 (1983) 569.
- [97] F. Nakayama, J. Chromatogr. 452 (1988) 399.
- [98] W. Swobonik, Y.Y. Zhang, U. Klueppelberg, P. Janowitz, J. Chromatogr. 75 (1980) 423.
- [99] S. Hasegawa, R. Uenoyama, F. Takeda, J. Chromatogr. 278 (1983) 25.
- [100] S. Okuyama, N. Kohubun, S. Nigashigate, Chem. Lett. 464 (1979) 1443.
- [101] S. Yoshida, H. Murai, S. Hirose, T. Takeda, J. Chromatogr. 431 (1988) 27.
- [102] A. Tsuji, M. Maeda, H. Arakawa, J. Biolumin. Chemilumin. 4 (1989) 454.
- [103] S. Kamada, M. Maeda, A. Tsuji, Y. Umezawa, F. Kurahashi, J. Chromatogr. 239 (1982) 773.
- [104] E.J. Eisenberg, K.C. Cundy, Anal. Chem. 63 (1991) 845.
- [105] R. Shaw, W.H. Elliot, Lipids 13 (1978) 971.
- [106] G. Mingrone, A.V. Greco, L. Boniforti, S. Passi, Lipids 19 (1983) 90.
- [107] Y. Ito, T. Takeuchi, D. Ishii, M. Goto, T. Mizuno, J. Chromatogr. 358 (1986) 161.
- [108] Y. Ito, T. Takeuchi, D. Ishii, M. Goto, J. Chromatogr. 346 (1985) 161.
- [109] J.E. Evans, A. Ghosh, B.A. Evans, M.R. Natowicz, Biol. Mass Spectrom. 22 (1993) 331.
- [110] C.R. Blakley, M.L. Vestal, Anal. Chem. 55 (1983) 750.
- [111] M.L. Vestal, Science 226 (1984) 275.
- [112] P. Kebarle, L. Tang, Anal. Chem. 65 (1993) 972.
- [113] T.R. Covey, E.D. Lee, A.P. Bruins, J.D. Henion, Anal. Chem. 58 (1986) 1451.
- [114] R.M. Caprioli, Anal. Chem. 62 (1990) 477.
- [115] A. Roda, A.M. Gioacchini, C. Cerrè, M. Baraldini, J. Chromatogr. B 665 (1995) 281–294.

- [116] S. Ikegawa, T. Yanagihara, N. Murao, H. Watanabe, J. Goto, T. Niwa, J. Mass Spectrom. 32 (1997) 401–407.
- [117] S. Ikegawa, N. Murao, T. Motoyama, T. Yanagihara, T. Niwa, J. Goto, Biomed. Chromatogr. 10 (1996) 313–317.
- [118] L.Q. Xie, K.E. Markides, M. Lee, Anal. Biochem. 200 (1992) 7.
- [119] K.D. Bartle, in: R.M. Smith (Ed.), Supercritical Fluid Chromatography, Royal Society of Chemistry, London, 1988, Ch. 1.
- [120] S. Scalia, D.E. Games, J. Pharm. Sci. 82 (1993) 44.
- [121] S. Scalia, D.E. Games, J. Chromatogr. 574 (1992) 197.

- [122] T.A. Berger, J.F. Deye, J. Chromatogr. 594 (1992) 291.
- [123] M. Girard, N. Mousseau, in: P. Sandra, G. Devos (Eds.), Proceedings of the 15th International Symposium on Capillary Chromatography, Riva del Garda, September 1994, p. 1945.
- [124] J. Snopek, E. Keulemansovà, I. Jelinek, J. Dhonal, J. Klinot, E. Klinotovà, J. Chromatogr. 450 (1988) 373.
- [125] M.G. Quaglia, A. Farina, E. Bossù, C. Dell'Aquila, A. Doldo, J. Chromatogr. B 16 (1997) 281–285.
- [126] J.H. Knox, I.H. Grant, Chromatographia 24 (1987) 135.